THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2008-CP-23-5245  
Appellate Case No. 2009-141246

---

Blue Ridge Electric Cooperative, Inc. ....Appellant,

vs.

Kathleen J. Gresham .....Respondent.

---

APPELLANT BLUE RIDGE ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Larry C. Brandt  
Larry C. Brandt, PA  
P.O. Box 738  
3691 Blue Ridge Blvd.  
Walhalla, SC 29691  
864/638-5406

Steven W. Hamm  
RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.  
1900 Barnwell Street  
Post Office Drawer 7788  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202  
(803) 771-4400  
(803) 779-0016 facsimile

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's timely Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute when all the missing portions of the trial transcript covering the issue of the Blue Ridge appeal from a jury verdict of trespass by Blue Ridge do not exist and when Respondent Gresham varied her testimony at the transcript Reconstruction hearing?
2. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute on the jury award of one cent (\$0.01) for trespass when Respondent Gresham offered no documentary evidence into the trial record to rebut the official state Encroachment Permit entered into the record as Hearing Exhibit 12 showing a 50 foot right-of-way in order to support Respondent Gresham's claim of trespass against Appellant Blue Ridge and instead testified that she "believed" there was a 20 foot right-of-way along her property on Highway 11 due to her previous experience?
3. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's timely Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute on the Respondent Gresham's counter claim of trespass and jury award of one cent (\$0.01) for trespass when Respondent Gresham failed to introduce any evidence into the trial record showing Appellant Blue Ridge's electric pole and guy wire extended beyond the 50 foot SCDOT highway right-of-way shown in the state Encroachment Permit secured by Appellant Blue Ridge and entered into evidence by Appellant Blue Ridge as Exhibit 12?
4. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's timely Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute on the Respondent Gresham's counter claim of trespass and jury award of one cent (\$0.01) for trespass when Respondent Gresham did not present any witness during trial that had actually measured the actual number of feet of distance from the center line of Highway 11 to the single electric pole and guy line placed by Appellant Blue Ridge and challenged as trespass and instead only estimated the distance?
5. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's timely Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute on the Defendant claim of trespass and jury award of one cent (\$0.01) for trespass when Respondent Kathleen Gresham did not present any witness at trial that had reviewed or examined a plat of the Defendant's property or reviewed and examined a plat of the highway right-of-way coming down Highway 11 along the side of Respondent Gresham's property.
6. Whether the lower court erred in denying Appellant Blue Ridge's timely Motion for Judgment NOV or for a New Trial Absolute on the jury award of one cent (\$0.01) for trespass when the only unrefuted factual evidence entered into the trial record was offered by Appellant Blue Ridge's right-of-way employee who personally secured the official highway Encroachment Permit and testified he measured the placement of the

electric pole and guy wire inside the 50 foot right-of-way as shown in the scale staking map drawing, page 2 of 12, attached to the state Encroachment Permit and entered into evidence as exhibit 12?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 15, 2008, Blue Ridge Electric Cooperative, Inc. (“Blue Ridge” or “Appellant Blue Ridge”) filed a Summons and Non-Jury Complaint against Kathleen J. Gresham and her husband, Steve Gresham, seeking judgment against them for monies which Blue Ridge alleged they owed for unpaid electricity that had been consumed on their property located at 1524 Highway 11, Landrum, Greenville County, South Carolina, during the period of June 25, 2003 through May 16, 2007, in the amount of EIGHT THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED SIXTY-SEVEN AND 64/100 (\$8,667.64) DOLLARS.

Subsequently, on September 16, 2008, Steve Gresham, *pro se*, filed a Motion to Dismiss the action against him, in essence, claiming that the action was frivolous and without basis as to him and seeking certain damages/sanctions pursuant to **SCRCP, Rule 11**. He also filed his Answer and Counterclaim denying that any money was owed to Blue Ridge by either his wife or himself and asked for judgment against Blue Ridge on his Counterclaim which alleged that Blue Ridge had trespassed upon the property of his wife “Kathleen Jennings labeled as Kathleen J. Gresham” by installing a “support pole or other such pole” upon his wife’s land “without written permission or rental from her.” Additionally, he accused Blue Ridge of harassment in the bringing of the Complaint against him and requested damages and sanction against Blue Ridge for same.

On October 9, 2008, Blue Ridge filed a Reply to Steve Gresham’s *pro se* Motion to Dismiss and for Costs and Sanctions along with its Reply to his Answer and Counterclaim denying the allegations contained therein, particularly as to the trespass claim.

Thereafter, on September 30, 2008, Kathleen J. Gresham, a/k/a Kathleen

Jennings, also acting *pro se*, filed her Answer and Counterclaim to the Complaint denying the alleged debt and seeking damages from Blue Ridge upon a claim that Blue Ridge was trespassing upon her land because it had placed “a support pole and guy wires” thereon without her express written authorization. She also levied other allegations against Blue Ridge and accused Blue Ridge of bringing the Complaint to harass her.

On October 28, 2008, Blue Ridge filed its Reply to the Answer and Counterclaim of Defendant, Kathleen J. Gresham, and denied the allegations or complaints against it concerning harassment and other such claims and particularly denied that it had trespassed upon her land.

On November 6, 2008, a hearing was held before the Honorable Larry R. Patterson upon the Motion of Steve Gresham to dismiss the Complaint as to him. Although the Motion was not specifically couched as such, Judge Patterson considered it a ***12(b)(6) Motion*** and denied the Motion by Order entered on November 6, 2008.

The case then proceeded to trial and was tried on August 26, 27, and 28, 2009, in the Court of Common Pleas, Greenville County, South Carolina, Judge R. Lawton McIntosh, presiding. At the close of Plaintiff's case on its claim for collection of monies owed to it, Blue Ridge voluntarily dismissed Defendant, Steve Gresham, but Blue Ridge's claim against Kathleen J. Gresham proceeded along with Defendant's claims against Blue Ridge.

After the Defendants' case was presented, Steve Gresham's Counterclaim was also dismissed and the case went to the jury on Blue Ridge's claim for the debt and the Defendant's, Kathleen J. Gresham's, claim of trespass relating to a single power pole and

guy line that was located upon her property that Blue Ridge claimed was within the SCDOT right-of-way on S.C. Highway 11. At the close of Defendant's case, Blue Ridge moved for a directed verdict in its favor on the trespass claim, but Judge McIntosh denied the motion and the case went to the jury. Thereafter, on August 28, 2009, the jury rendered its verdict and denied Blue Ridge's claim for judgment on the debt but found for the Defendant, Kathleen J. Gresham, on the Counterclaim for trespass and awarded her \$0.01 actual damages.

Upon conclusion of the trial, the parties requested ten (10) days within which to file post-trial motions and the Trial Judge granted same.

Thereafter, on October 31, 2009, Judge McIntosh memorialized Blue Ridge's dismissal of its claim against Steve Gresham and the dismissal of Steve Gresham's Counterclaim against Blue Ridge by written Order. In the same Order, he also memorialized his granting to Blue Ridge and Defendant, Kathleen J. Gresham, ten (10) days to file post-trial motions.

Blue Ridge, thereafter, timely filed a Motion for Judgment NOV or, in the Alternative, for a New Trial Absolute, and Defendant, Kathleen Jennings filed, what she captioned "Motion to Court Following Jury Verdict for Defendant." Both Motions were subsequently denied by Judge McIntosh's Order entered on September 11, 2009.

On September 28, 2009, Blue Ridge filed a Notice of Appeal and ordered a transcript in the case. However, after several substantial delays in the delivery of the complete trial transcript, the Court Reporter advised the Court and the parties that she could only provide a portion of the trial transcript as her equipment had failed and she had lost approximately one-half of the trial testimony and related proceedings. Blue

Ridge then filed a Motion on October 6, 2010, with the Court of Appeals to remand the case to the Trial Court for reconstruction of the record or, in the alternative, grant a new trial. The Motion was granted by a Court of Appeals Order dated December 2, 2010. Several hearings were thereafter scheduled by Judge McIntosh and/or attempted to be scheduled by Judge McIntosh for that purpose, but Defendant, Kathleen Jennings, could never fit those available dates into her schedule and the matter was repetitively delayed. Finally, on April 15, 2013, Judge Few issued an Order requiring the hearing to be held within sixty (60) days. In accordance with that Order, Judge McIntosh held a hearing on April 29, 2013, in Anderson, South Carolina, to attempt to reconstruct the missing parts of the record. Testimony was taken from Defendant, Kathleen J. Gresham, and her witness Stephen Austin. Testimony was further taken from Ronnie Alexander, the right-of-way technician with Blue Ridge who had testified at trial as to the S.C. Highway 11 right-of-way in question, the SCDOT permit issued to Blue Ridge approving the placement of the pole in question and the fact that the pole was clearly within the SCDOT right-of-way for Highway 11. Judge McIntosh then sent the submissions of missing transcript of each of the parties, together with the testimony at the reconstruction hearing, to the Court of Appeals.

On July 3, 2013, the Court of Appeals sent a letter to the parties acknowledging receipt of the transcript of the reconstruction hearing held on April 29, 2013, and instructing that Appellant Blue Ridge's Initial Briefs and Designations of Matter must be served and filed no more than thirty (30) days from the date of the letter. As a result, this appeal is now before the Court upon a partial record of the trial of the case and the testimony and matters presented to the Court at the April 29, 2013, reconstruction

hearing, together with details of missing testimony asserted by the parties in their prior filings with the Circuit Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

In or about early 2007, Blue Ridge decided to upgrade an existing power line running along S.C. Highway 11 in Greenville County, South Carolina, which was to begin at the intersection of S.C. Highway 11 and North Glassy Mountain Road and proceed north to the intersection of S.C. Highway 11 and Oak Grove Road. In the construction plan for the line upgrade, some poles already supporting the then existing line were to be used and some were to be merely changed out and some new poles were to be added. Prior to any work being done it was required, pursuant to South Carolina law, for Blue Ridge to submit its plans for the line upgrade to SCDOT through scale drawings showing what it wished to do within the highway right-of-way and to obtain permission from SCDOT to further burden the right-of-way with any new poles that were necessary to support the new upgraded line.

On April 12, 2007, Staking Sheets (scaled drawings) for the project that Blue Ridge intended to construct were rendered showing the location of the old or existing poles and guy wires that would be used or changed out and the new poles and guy wires that were to be installed within the South Carolina right-of-way with references to the location of the individual poles and guy wires from the centerline and the SCDOT right-of-way.

Thereafter, on September 28, 2007, Blue Ridge submitted to SCDOT its application for an Encroachment Permit to construct and maintain the proposed upgraded 7.2 KV overhead power line along the right-of-way of S.C. Highway 11. **[R.pp.192-201]**. The application was signed by Ronnie Alexander, Staking Supervisor for Blue Ridge, who personally supervised the development and preparation of the Staking sheets,

or drawings, which were submitted to SCDOT as part of the permit application, as well as the actual location of the poles and guy wires that were subsequently constructed. **[Id.]** The Blue Ridge permit was then approved by SCDOT on October 16, 2007, for the proposed maintenance and construction work as shown on Staking Sheets 1-5 which were attached to the permit and were an integral part of the approved application. **[Id.]** Sheet 2 of the Staking Sheets showed pole #10A, the pole which Respondent, Kathleen Jennings, claimed was on her property without her permission and constituted a trespass, to be a stub or support pole for the electric distribution line installed on the south side of S.C. Highway 11. **[Id.]** It also showed that pole #10A was to be placed on the north side of S.C. Highway 11, thirty-four (34') feet from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11 and well within the SCDOT right-of-way of fifty (50') feet from the centerline of the highway. **[Id.]** The permit application, which was approved by SCDOT on October 16, 2007, specifically enumerated the new poles that were to be permitted as poles #5, #10, **#10A**, #11, #12, #13, #14, #15, #16, #17 and #17.5, for a total of eleven (11) poles to be located within the right-of-way of S.C. Highway 11. **[Id.]**

A trial, Ronnie Alexander unequivocally testified that he had gone to the scene and had measured the distance of the pole and the guy wires from the center of S.C. Highway 11 and that the pole, #10A, when actually located, was twenty-seven (27') feet from the centerline and the guy wires extended another seventeen (17') feet, making the farthest point of the poles and guys from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11 to be approximately forty-four (44') feet. He further testified that the SCDOT right-of-way where pole #10A was located was, in fact, fifty (50') feet and that, in the course of his job duties, he had personally confirmed the right-of-way with SCDOT when the Staking

Sheets were drawn. This testimony was part of the lost transcript. However, Ronnie Alexander appeared and testified at the reconstruction hearing on April 29, 2013, to reaffirm his trial testimony that there was a fifty (50') foot right-of-way as shown on Staking Sheet 2 and that pole #10A, as well as the guy wires, were within the SCDOT right-of-way. Although, at the time of trial, Mr. Alexander had testified to specific measurements, he testified at the reconstruction hearing that he could not recall his specific measurements but he vividly remembered that he measured the pole and guy wires and there were all located in accordance with the permit within fifty (50') feet of centerline of S.C. Highway 11 and well within the SCDOT right-of-way. It was upon that evidence, i.e., Plaintiff's Exhibit #12 and Mr. Alexander's testimony, that Blue Ridge based its Directed Verdict Motion at the close of Defendant's case prior to the jury being charged. Judge McIntosh refused to direct the verdict and sent the case to the jury, notwithstanding that there was no other credible evidence whatsoever in the record to refute Plaintiff's Exhibit #12 and Mr. Alexander's testimony or upon which the jury could have found that pole #10A and/or the guy wires were outside the SCDOT right-of-way and on Defendant's land without permission. There is no doubt that the right-of-way along S.C. Highway 11 is not a uniform fifty (50') feet along both sides of S.C. Highway 11 **at all points**, but, **at the location of pole #10A, the single point in issue, all of the evidence established the right-of-way was/is fifty (50') feet from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11.**

In order to attempt to prove her claim of trespass, Defendant Jennings offered her own testimony and that of her husband, Steve Gresham, and witness, Steve Austin, to try to show that the poles were, in fact, trespassing upon her land. Notably, not a single one

of those witnesses knew the width of the right-of-way of S.C. Highway 11 at the location of pole #10A nor did any of them measure the exact distance of the pole or guys from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11. Defendant Jennings stated, at the reconstruction hearing on April 29, 2013, that the right-of-way varied along S.C. Highway 11 at different points and admitted that, at trial, she merely testified that **she thought** the right-of-way where the subject pole was located, to-wit: pole #10A, was twenty (20') feet; however, she never put into evidence any documents or called any witnesses to establish with any authority whatsoever that the right-of-way was anything other than as shown on the Staking Sheets and as testified to by Ronnie Alexander or that Blue Ridge was in violation of the permitted location of pole #10A within the right-of-way of S.C. Highway 11. Plaintiff's Exhibit #12 clearly permits pole #10A to be placed thirty-four (34') feet from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11 and shows that such placement is clearly within the SCDOT right-of-way, thereby conclusively refuting with authority Defendant's arbitrary claim that the right-of-way is a mere twenty (20') feet. Defendant, Kathleen Jennings, although claiming the right-of-way is only twenty (20') feet from centerline, admitted, at the reconstruction hearing, that she testified at trial that she **thought** it was twenty (20') feet, not that it was, in fact twenty (20') feet. **[R.p.87, lines 13-24, p.89, line 13]** and she offered no other proof of her assertion as she did not think the right-of-way was the business of anybody's at the highway department and that her testimony alone was sufficient to establish the right-of-way.

Steve Gresham, Kathleen Jennings' husband, testified, at trial, that the trespass question concerned the guy wire rather than the actual pole, admitted that he had not measured anything and offered no testimony whatsoever as to the actual distances of the

pole or guy wires from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11. **[R.p.67, line 22-p.68, line 16; p.70, lines 7-23; pp. 202-206].**

Gresham witness, Steve Austin, also testified at trial that the pole and guy wires were on Ms. Jennings' land but he admitted that he had not measured any distances, and did not know the width of the right-of-way in issue, as he had never seen a plat of the highway right-of-way coming down S.C. Highway 11. **[R.p.73, line 19-p.74, line 3; p.74, line 23-p.75, line 8; p.75, lines 21-25].**

Defendant, Kathleen Jennings, further testified, at the reconstruction hearing, that the pole and guy wires were about thirty-four (34') feet from the centerline of S.C. Highway 11 but that was an estimation as she had not actually measured it. Her estimation, however, shows that the pole was/is placed within the fifty (50') foot right-of-way and in accordance with the permit.**[R.p.83, lines 1-12; pp.192-201].**

## ARGUMENT

**I. Based on existing Appellate rules and basic concepts of due process, Blue Ridge should not be placed in the position of being compelled to proceed with its appeal of an arbitrary jury verdict finding trespass, when the entire trial transcript maintaining all matters and testimony presented to the lower court and to the jury does not exist.**

Appellant Blue Ridge, in order to be afforded all of its due process and Appellate rule rights to properly prepare and submit an effective and accurate appeal of matters presented during trial, must be provided with a full and complete certified trial transcript of the entire lower court trial proceedings. That is currently impossible with regard to the lower court proceedings on the issue of trespass. In fairness to the lower court, the Blue Ridge Motion that included a request for JNOV or New Trial Absolute was timely filed after the trial and before the lower court or any party knew that a major portion of the trial transcript involving the claim of trespass could not be provided by the Court Reporter to the parties or to the Court of Appeals.

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