RECEIVED

JUL 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Case no. 2008-CP-23-5245
App. Case no. 2015-001836; 2009-141246
Court of Appeals no. 2015-UP-031, submitted Nov. 1, 2014

Blue Ridge Electrical Cooperative, Inc Petitioner,

vs.

Kathleen J. Gresham Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KATHLEEN J. GRESHAM

Kathleen J. Gresham
Tahlequah Farm
1524 Highway 11
Landrum, South Carolina 29356
864-895-4222
Pro Se Respondent

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

At the commencement of the lawsuit after selection of the jury, the trial judge advised Jennings to "just pay your d--- debt," referencing Jennings to BREC. Jennings advised the trial judge that if he had already had such a bias and prejudice without even hearing the facts, he should consider recusing himself from this trial and should have so stated it earlier in the

process. Jennings advised this judge that she had, indeed paid her obligations and paid the BREC bills faithfully as the evidence would show. At the reconstruction hearings in Anderson County, counsel for Blue Ridge Mr. Brandt announced to the Court that Blue Ridge was no longer seeking any alleged past bill amounts from Jennings, acknowledging the rightful actions of the jury's verdict in this key area of their Complaint, which had been their sole basis in bringing this lawsuit. Mr. Brandt also announced in binding form to Jennings and to the trial judge that Blue Ridge was also not seeking any attorney's fees and costs from Jennings-Gresham either from the trial, from the appeals, or otherwise.

Also as to point D, both parties, Plaintiff and Defendant have a federal and state constitutional right to a trial by jury on the question of punitive damages, thusly denied arbitrarily by the trial judge over objection by Defendant Jennings. (Cited in Hollis, citing the U.S. Constitution. The Court of Appeals committed no error in denying BREC request for a new trial as the trial transcript was reconstructed thanks to the assistance and record maintenance of Respondent, as the Court and BREC trial counsel did not possess full copies which had been maintained by Jennings. There was no surmise, no conjecture, and no speculation, which Petitioner accepted when Respondent presented documents at the reconstruction hearing and no objection(s) was/were made thus are waived now by Petitioner. The case at hand is significantly distinguished from State v. Ladson, 373 S.C.320, 644 S.E.2d 271 (2007) in that in Ladson, a criminal case wherein Mr. Ladson had been sentenced to a non-parole term of 25 years in prison, there was NO transcript. No part of the trial had been recorded. The record was, at best, largely conclusory and recalled in summary fashion as noted by the Court of Appeals Judge Kittredge. In Ladson, there could be no meaningful appellate review as no transcript. Much time had passed as well. The transcript was painstakingly reconstructed at great personal sacrifice of

Respondent. There exists a record that does “permit meaningful appellate review,” as the Ladson standard requires. Mr. Brandt indicated on the record at trial beginning that this was “basically about a bill,” (Supplemental Appendix p. 6, lines 1-2) while the trial judge stated in his opening remarks that “This is not an exceedingly complex case... (Supplemental Appendix p. 4, line 3). Now, almost 9 years later and a bevy of lawyers of BREC still continuing on this case, the facts established at trial might look a little different. The jury saw through it all and reached a verdict that ‘spoke the truth.’ The trial court, in failing to grant JNOV or Petitioner’s other motions, did not abuse his discretion for the facts were in evidence and a reasonable jury could easily have decided what this reasonable jury did decide, but for the Court’s refusal to allow the issue of punitive damages. The only matter of “exceptional public importance,” demonstrated by these facts at hand before this Court is that BREC exercised terrible judgment in invading and trespassing on Respondent’s property and in bullying her and her non-member BREC husband in a bogus debt collection action to show their power and ‘unstoppability.’ The jury stopped them. The trial court finally stopped them with denial of their motions in just fashion. The Court of Appeals stopped them. The Supreme Court of our state should stop them as well and urge BREC’s adherence to proper use of power to more effectively serve its hard-working and hard-paying coop members. Justice has been ‘unblinded.’ The only issue not properly decided is the issue of punitive damages, which was preserved by Jennings even though she was wrongfully denied due process and/or presentation to the empaneled jury on this long-pled issue, to her detriment and to her surprise at the last hour of trial just prior to closing arguments and testimony, to great disadvantage.

BREC should be prohibited from complaint about damages when they reaped a windfall from the trial judge in his erroneous, last minute ruling from the bench on August 28th, 2009, the

last day of trial, that contempt sanctions would befall Jennings should she even mention punitive damages much less ask the jury for them. In Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C.279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (2000), rehearing denied Nov.4, 2000, “the issue of punitive damages must be submitted to the jury if more than one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence as to whether the defendant’s behavior was reckless, willful or wanton,” Code 1976, sect.15-33-135. Submission of the issue of punitive damages was absolutely essential and the responsibility of the trial judge. Correction can occur by re-submission of the punitive damages issue ALONE to the lower court as Respondent has so moved and continues to do so.

As to point E, The Court of Appeals was correct in denying Petitioner’s request for a new trial as a matter of law for testimony was in dispute and the jury could and did find the evidence as they heard it and considered it in light of the entire case presentation in which they participated for three days. The jury’s verdict will not and should not be overturned if any evidence exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in the Court’s decision. (Welch v Epstein, 342 S.C.279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (2000) Simplistically put, fact finder is imbued with broad discretion. It is not the function of reviewing court to weight evidence and determine credibility of witnesses. (Small v. Pioneer Machinery, Inc., 329 S.C.448, 494 S.E.2d 835 (1997).

Writing for the Supreme Court, Justice Beatty held that the factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless no evidence reasonably supports the jury’s findings. (Austin v. Stokes-Craven Holding Corp., 387 S.C.22, 691 S.E.2d 135 (2010). In the case at hand, there is considerable evidence to support the jury’s verdict, such verdict upheld also by the trial court’s rejection of Petitioner’s motion for JNOV as, did The Court of Appeals. The trial court has discretion in denying a motion for JNOV and in the light most favorable to the party opposing

the motions and to deny the motions where the evidence yields more than one inference. (Strange v. S.C. Dept. of Highways, 314 S.C.427, 445 S.E.2d 439 (1994)).

As to points F, The Court of Appeals correctly applied the standard in refusing to set aside the jury's verdict as a matter of law or otherwise. Several parties made testimony. There was no failure by Respondent as to trespass onto her land. A landowner has the right to testify about the perimeters and her knowledge about her land, which testimony was presented. It is NOT the role of The Court of Appeals or other court to substitute their judgment for that of the jury or to impose their decision for a jury's decision. Appellate court must employ the same standard as the trial court by viewing the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party and will reverse ONLY WHEN (emphasis added) there is NO evidence to support the ruling below. Neither the trial court nor the appellate court has authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or evidence. The jury's verdict will not be overturned IF ANY evidence (emphasis added) exists that sustains the factual findings implicit in its decision. (Welch v. Epstein, 342 S.C.279, 536 S.E.2d 408 (2000)).

As to point G, Testimony was made by several witnesses, including the landowner of long duration-ownership of her farm land as to boundaries and knowledge of same with details about her fencing placement in the 1980's, its placement, the intrusion of BREC onto her land, past the large structural steel or metal roadside barriers, position of the long guy wires to service the non-power support pole, her inability to clean the land as she had for thirty plus years with the intrusion, her objection to such a pole on her land, her attempts to have BREC remove the pole, and her adamant about its wrongful placement. It is up to the jury to judge the weight given to each witness' testimony, to apply the law as given, and to use their common sense. The appellate court(s) should not disturb the jury's discretion. The trial court was/is in a position to

view the evidence, as was the jury who issued their verdict, from a perspective that an appellate court can never match. (Norton v. Norfolk Southern Railway Co., 350 S.C.473, 567 S.E.2d 851 (2002)).

It is generally held in the modern common law that trespass to land is actionable per se and that the action will lie and nominal damages may be recovered regardless of actual loss to the landowner. (Johnson v. Phillips, 315 S.C.407, 433 S.E.2d 895 (Ct.App.1993); 318 S.C.453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995) and reh'g denied, (Aug.11, 1993). The Court of Appeals of S.C.in this case, recognized that from its earliest history, the *common law* has been vigilant to protect the rights of private property and liberty and safety of the person.

Freedom from discomfort and annoyance while using lands is often as important to a person as freedom from physical interruption with his use or freedom from detrimental change in the physical condition of the land itself. (Restatement (Second) of Torts Sect.821D (1979) quoted in Babb et al v. Lee County Landfill SC, LLC, 405 S.C.129, 747 S.E.2d 468 (2013)

Justice Hearn, writing for The Supreme Court in Babb v. Lee County Landfill SC, LLC, reviewed the issue of trespass noting that there is no requirement of unreasonableness; rather, any trespass, however small and insignificant, gives rise to an actionable claim. An action in trespass entitles a plaintiff (Respondent through her counterclaim) to even nominal damages even in the absence of any actual injury. In this case at hand, Respondent did experience actual injury from the loss of use of her property, interference with her grounds and farm maintenance, loss of scenic beauty, being forced to endure the intrusion of a large utility pole and long, extensive guy wires on her property, inability to now maintain the area on which the pole and intruding wire lines are located, and loss of her exclusive possession. BREC was intent on making money by utilizing Respondent's land to support their "money makers, (i.e. the power

poles). The pole and wires were not erected by BREC as bird stands or scenic markers but as moneymakers, at the expense and injury to Respondent. She had a right to argue punitive damages and to have the pole and wire removed with damages awarded to her for the injury, still on going.

BREC's entry and construction of pole and wires were actual physical entries and actual invasion of Respondent's treasured and pristine land where she had sacrificed to bury her own Blue Ridge power lines to avoid the eyesores of poles and wires and above-ground storm damage even if this decision forced her to pay BREC their demanded, large fee to bury her power. Above ground power to Respondent's home was 'free,' to be a BREC customer but the cost of buried power, more novel, exceptional and even visionary in the 1980's, cost a 'pretty penny,' into the thousands of dollars, which Respondent paid, preferring to live meagerly for extra years in order to bury her power and avoid visible, ugly, and invasive poles and steel wires. It is the right of a landowner to hold values and standards for her land and to make sacrifices to accomplish them. It is NOT a right of a cooperative like BREC or any other, to boldly enter such land, being aware of the landowner's desires as they profited from them in the buried power construction and each month with her prompt bill payments, to radically upset the long-held plan and use the Respondent's land for their own purpose without written permission. It is undisputed that NO written permission occurred with this trespass. Clearly, a large, looming pole and long, steel guy wires are tangible things constructed in an invasive entry on Respondent's property, requiring a construction team and heavy hoisting equipment and specialized construction requiring considerable time. This invasion constituted a classic, common law occurrence of trespass. Respondent met her burden of proof as to trespass by her own testimony, by that of her husband, by engineer Austin, and importantly, by admission of BREC witnesses who

acknowledged the pole and wires past the scenic highway right-of-way upon which Respondent has operated for 35 plus years. There was no need for expert testimony as trespass is NOT beyond the common knowledge of the jury as where a layperson can comprehend and determine an issue without the assistance of an expert, expert testimony is not required. (Babb)

Respondent lived quietly, bothered no one on her farm, insisted on the front gate be steadily locked to prevent the escape of animals as. Fred Smith, manager of Freeman Heating and Gas in Landrum, testified. Smith's testimony was also destroyed but reconstructed by agreement with his submitted written statement, attached hereto and furnished to the trial judge by Respondent in accordance with the judge's reconstruction Order to the parties, made a part of the Court record. Smith testified that he had been manager since 1986 and knew Ms. Jennings as "a long standing and valued customer, paid her bills promptly and even had a credit of \$732.00 on her account." This testimony, presented in summary form for appeal, further illustrates Ms. Jennings' frustration and even anger at BREC for several times clipping her front gate locks, ruining them, to gain illegal entry to her property when the meters BREC alone installed were promised Respondent to be 'state-of-the-art,' even by the highest authority at BREC, Charles Dalton, the CEO. Destroying the front gate and its locks on several occasions, as even confirmed in testimony of key BREC employee witness Denise McCormack (Supplemental Appendix p. 7, lines 7-13), reluctantly admitting on cross-examination that it "could have been more than one" unauthorized property entry, demonstrates the reckless behavior, willful and wanton behavior of BREC toward even one of its long-standing, 'excellent' by testimony of the employees, member. This type of bullying behavior with no respect for property rights and no regard for honorable business practices obviously impacted the jury and even the trial judge, adamant at case

beginning that this was just a case about debt. There was NO debt. There never had been any debt.

This case was more about power and BREC's being used to doing what they wanted, when they wanted, to earn their own profits, regardless of the rights of those in their path. This is why Respondent pled punitive damages and likely would have received them but for the abuse of discretion by the trial judge on this long-pled issue at the last day of trial. BREC deserves the imposition of Court sanctions. They have earned the denial of their Writ. Moving the pole and wires would have been and is a simple, cheap fix but it was more important to BREC to 'prevail,' to whine about being the first time they were marked as what they are – trespassers. There is no sympathy for them. They invited their own exposure as trespassers. The Writ should be denied. The appeal of BREC ended.

CONCLUSION

This lawsuit, initiated by BREC, should never have been filed. It is and has been a travesty of justice, insulting to Kathleen Jennings, to her husband, Steve Gresham, to their entire family, and has brought embarrassment and disrepute to BREC, and its unsuspecting rural members, unaware of the exorbitant spending to sue an "excellent customer of long years, duration. It has also brought unnecessary angst to the S.C. Court System and an incalculable cost to all. It has been a 'no win' for everyone from the outset. It was anticipated by Jennings who diligently sought for BREC to "see the light," and abandon their notions of any lawsuit, even bringing in State Senator David Thomas to use his own investigative powers and analysis in his tenacious fashion, without bias, to try to resolve the matter as to the alleged debt. Initially, the Senator advised Ms. Jennings to just "pay the bill," just as the trial judge, Lawton McIntosh, did at commencement of trial. However, the case was not as "simple," as these smart men initially

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